2009-EC-01682-SCTT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NUMBER

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS

Long-time Thirteenth Judicial District Circuit Judge Robert Evans served his district and the state with great distinction for a number of years. He qualified for re-election without opposition; but unfortunately, he succumbed to cancer on July 13, 2010, subsequent to the deadline for judicial candidates to qualify in May prior to the election.

In September, the defendants entered a declaration requiring the election for circuit judge in said district to be conducted as a "write-in" election, to be followed three weeks later by a run-off election between the two candidates receiving the most votes if neither receives a majority of the votes cast in the November 2 election.

The facts in this case are very similar to the situation facing officials and voters in the Tenth Chancery Court District, comprising Forrest, Lamar, Marion, Pearl River, and Perry Counties. In that district, Chancellor James H. C. Thomas qualified for re-election without opposition; but unfortunately, he died on October 1, 2010. In that race, ballots had been printed prior to his death; and his name will appear on the ballot with a blank space for a write-in candidate under his name. In the race for the Thirteenth Judicial District judgeship, Judge Evans' name will not appear on the ballot.

ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs recognize that Section 23-15-365 of the Mississippi Code of 1972 authorizes write-in ballots in certain situations. They also recognize that Section 23-15-1015 provides for an election for circuit judges and chancellors to be held every fourth year and that the vacancy occurred in the fourth year of Judge Evan's term.

However, plaintiffs/appellants contend that judicial elections can be distinguished from other elections in several important areas; and for the election to proceed as ordered will cause them to ignore other statutes dealing with judicial elections.

It should be stated that plaintiffs/appellants do not seek to criticize the defendants. They concede that the defendants are acting in the utmost good faith and they recognize that great effort has been expended by them in an effort to educate the voters as to the proper procedure to follow in casting absentee ballots. However, it is apparent to the plaintiffs that to follow the method ordered by defendants will result in great confusion and will effectively disenfranchise a significant number of voters.

Judicial elections impose special requirements on the candidates and on the election official. Article 6, Section 154 of the Constitution of Mississippi requires that a circuit or chancery judge to be a practicing attorney for five years, to be at least 26 years of age, and to have been a citizen of this State for five years. These qualifications can be verified and/or challenged by requiring candidates to qualify within a reasonable period of time prior to the election. Section 23-15-977 requires candidates to qualify by the first Monday in May prior to the election. However, a write-in election does not identify for the voters which persons meet the constitutional requirements to hold office, and does not allow any challenge to these qualifications. It is not known how a decision will be made as to whether a write-in nominee can be deemed qualified by those counting the votes. There is also the very strong possibility that votes will be cast for otherwise qualified individuals who are unwilling to assume the office of Circuit Judge.

Section 23-15-974, et seq., imposes unique requirements upon candidates in a judicial election. Section 23-15-977.1 requires a candidate to take a special oath prior to beginning his campaign. Each candidate is required to run a nonpartisan campaign. There are specific fund raising requirements and financial disclosure requirements imposed on these candidates that do not apply to non-judicial elections. If the election proceeds as ordered, plaintiffs/appellants herein will be required to disregard these statutes.

The Governor has appointed the Honorable Eddie H. Bowen to fill the vacancy created by the death of Judge Evans. The Governor acted pursuant to the authority granted him by Sections 9-1-103 and 23-15-849 of the Mississippi Code of 1972. Section 23-15-849 specifically addresses these situations when a circuit judge or chancellor has vacated the office. The defendants interpret the nine-month requirement contained in this section as not applying in the case of the election occurring at the conclusion of the original four-year term. They contend that the regular election only applies in Section 23-15-1015 election occurring every four years. However, plaintiffs contend that the nine-month period authorizes the Governor to appoint a candidate who can meet the nine-month waiting period and can serve until the next regular election for state officers or for representatives in Congress. That election would occur in November, 2011; and the Governor would appoint a replacement candidate until the 2011 election occurs. This interpretation would allow for full compliance with the statutes that govern judicial elections. It would insure that the will of the voters would be carried out and would prevent mass confusion.

Plaintiff Billy Rayner, Circuit Clerk of Jasper County, Mississippi, testified as to his experience in preparing for this election. He had processed eleven absentee ballots prior to the hearing date; and of the eleven, five had asked him for assistance in determining for whom to vote in the race for circuit judge. When he advised that he could only state the qualifications required for the office, three of the five refused to vote for this important office; one announced that he had voted for Donald Duck, and the remaining indicated that he had voted for Mr. Rayner.

While plaintiffs recognize that the determination of conflicting election statutes is a duty imposed upon the executive branch and their determination should only be set aside in the most extraordinary circumstances, they respectfully contend that the interpretation given to the statutes by the defendants is erroneous. See *Barbour v. State, et rel, Attorney General Jim Hood*, 974 So.2d 232 (Miss. 2008).

Therefore, the plaintiffs herein respectfully request that this Court enjoin that part of the November 2, 2010, election presently scheduled and order that the election occur in November, 2011.

Respectfully submitted,

S. WAYNE ÉASTERLING,

Attorney for Plaintiffs/Appellants

S. Wayne Easterling Post Office Box 1471 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1471 (601) 544-8900 Fax: (601) 544-8902

Fax: (601) 544-8902 <u>Easterlinglaw@aol.com</u>

Mississippi Bar Number 5290

CERTIFICATE

A true copy of the foregoing brief of plaintiffs/appellants has been mailed, postage prepaid, to the Honorable Henry L. Lackey, Special Judge, Post Office Drawer T, Calhoun City, Mississippi 38916; to the Honorable Harold E. Pizzetta, III, Office of the Attorney General, Post Office Box 220, Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0220, attorney for defendants; and to the Honorable Steve C. Thornton, Post Office Box 16465, Jackson, Mississippi 39236, attorney for intervenor, on this 19th day of October, A.D., 2010.

5. Mayne Easterling