IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO.

2009 - EC - 01682
SCTE

BILLY G. RAYNER, et al.

APPELLANTS

V.

HALEY BARBOUR, et al.

APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

**BRIEF OF APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS
GOVERNOR HALEY BARBOUR,
ATTORNEY GENERAL JIM HOOD, and
SECRETARY OF STATE DELBERT ROSEMAN**

**On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of
Hinds County, the Honorable Henry L. Lackey, Special Judge**

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Harold E. Pizzetta, III
MS Bar #99867
Assistant Attorney General
Chief, Civil Litigation Division
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 220
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
Telephone: (601) 359-3816
Facsimile: (601) 359-2003

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

Argument

I. The State Defendants' Interpretation of State Election Statutes is Entitled to Great Deference.

Plaintiffs challenge in this matter the Governor, Secretary of State, and Attorney General's collective interpretation of state election statutes. In their individual roles as elected state officials, the Governor is the State's chief executive officer charged with ensuring the faithful execution of the law, the Secretary of State is the State's chief elections officer, and the Attorney General is the State's chief legal officer. *See, e.g.*, Miss. art. 5, §§ 116, 122; Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-211.1; Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-1. Collectively, the Governor, the Secretary of State, and the Attorney General comprise the "State Board of Election Commissioners." Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-211(1)(a). Because state election laws are entrusted to these State Defendants to administer, their interpretation of state election law is entitled to "considerable weight." *Barbour v. State ex rel. Hood*, 974 So.2d 232, 240-41 (Miss. 2008). This judicial "duty of deference" is derived from the acknowledgment that executive branch officials' "everyday experience" in the administration of statutory schemes provides them a "familiarity with the particularities and nuances of the problems committed to [their] care which no court can hope to replicate." *Gill v. Mississippi Dept. of Wildlife Conservation*, 574 So.2d 586, 593 (Miss. 1990) (citations omitted).

To apply this "considerable deference," courts review whether the statute in question either directly answers the issue or whether it is "ambiguous or silent" on the precise question. *Barbour*, 974 So.2d at 240. If the statute plainly and clearly answers the precise question, the clear terms of the statute apply. If, however, the statute is silent or ambiguous, the State Defendants' interpretation must be upheld if it is "based on a permissible construction of the

statute.” *Id.* at 241 (citing *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837, 865-866 (1984)). Importantly, a court need not conclude that the State Defendants’ “construction was the only one [they] permissibly could have adopted to uphold the construction, or even the reading the court would have reached if the question initially had arisen in a judicial proceeding.” *Mississippi Gaming Comm’n v. Imperial Palace of Mississippi, Inc.*, 751 So.2d 1025, 1029 (Miss. 1999) (quoting *Chevron*, 467 U.S. at 843 n.11). In other words, to conclude that the State Defendants have selected one of multiple permissible interpretations of state election law is to, in fact, conclude that the State Defendants’ interpretation must be upheld.

II. Code Section 23-15-1015 Mandates that a Regular Election be Held on November 2 to Select a Judge for the New 2011-2014 Term; Section 23-15-849(1) Does Not Apply Because the November Election Will Fill the “New” 2011-2014 Term and Not the “Unexpired” 2007-2010 Term.

The Mississippi Constitution authorizes the legislative branch, and not the executive or judicial branches, to direct the “manner” and “time” at which circuit court judges are elected. Miss. Const. art. 6, § 153. Pursuant to that constitutional authority, the legislature has enacted Code Section 23-15-1015 which requires in no uncertain terms that an election be held in every county on November 2, 2010, to select a circuit court judge for the new 2011-2014 Term. Pursuant to 23-15-1015, on “Tuesday after the first Monday in November 1986, and every four (4) years thereafter and concurrently with the election for representatives in Congress, there shall be held an election in every county for judges of the several circuit and chancery court districts,” *i.e.*, November 2, 2010. The election on November 2, 2010, will select a new circuit court judge for the four-year 2011-2014 Term. By law, the 2007-2010 Term must end on December 31, 2010, and the new 2011-2014 Term must begin on January 1, 2010. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 9-7-1 (circuit court terms are for four years beginning on January 1, 1931). Therefore, there must be

an election on November 2, 2010, to select a circuit court judge for the 2011-2014 Term beginning on January 1, 2011. Plaintiffs' request that this Court halt the November election is wholly inconsistent with, and prohibited by, the express statutory mandate in Code Section 23-15-1015 that the November 2 election proceed. This Court need look no further than the clear terms of Section 23-15-1015 to deny the relief requested by Plaintiffs.

Importantly, campaigning by write-in candidates for the November election began before this suit was filed and currently includes at least four qualified attorneys as candidates. *See* Rayner Testimony at R. 40, 50-52, R.E. 11. These qualified candidates have purchased and are distributing campaign materials. *Id.*; Election Materials, R. E. 10. The election itself has received extraordinary media attention, including newspaper stories that identify for the public the attorneys who are campaigning. *See generally*, R.E. 4; *see also* R.E. 4 at 3 (story entitled "Rogers Runs fo Circuit Judge"); R.E. 4 at 43 (story identifying three candidates). An injunction halting the election less than two weeks before election day would have a chilling effect on campaign efforts and expenditures. Candidates and supporters would be less likely to run and/or expend funds if the precedent is set for enjoining elections and nullifying hard earned campaign expenditures.

In contrast to the clear language of Section 23-15-1015, Plaintiffs wrongly contend that Code Sections 9-1-103 and 23-15-849 operate in conjunction to cancel the regularly scheduled quadrennial election for the new 2011-2014 Term because there existed a vacancy at the end of the 2007-2010 Term. Plaintiffs are plainly misreading the statutes. Mississippi Code Section 9-1-103 provides

Whenever a vacancy shall occur in any judicial office by reason of death of an incumbent, resignation or retirement of an incumbent, removal of an incumbent from office, or creation of a new judicial office in which there has not heretofore

been an incumbent, **the Governor shall have the authority to appoint a qualified person to fill such vacancy to serve [1] for the unexpired term or [2] until such vacancy is filled by election as provided in Section 23-15-849,** Mississippi Code of 1972. When a vacancy shall occur for any of the reasons enumerated in this section, the clerk of the court shall notify the Governor of such vacancy immediately.

(alteration and emphasis supplied). By using the conjunction “or”, Section 9-1-103 recognizes that an appointee may legally “serve for the unexpired term” when there is insufficient time remaining in the term to conduct a special replacement election. More specifically, Section 23-15-849(1) states that a special replacement election to fill a vacancy in an unexpired term may occur no sooner than nine months after the vacancy occurs. Thus, if the vacancy occurs within the last nine months of the term – which is the case here – then the gubernatorial appointee serves for the remainder of the “unexpired term” and no special election under Section 23-15-849(1) occurs.

Plaintiffs’ contention that Section 9-1-103 authorizes the governor to appoint an interim judge to serve the last year of the 2007-2010 Term and the first year of the 2011-2014 Term is wrong. The governor’s appointment authority under Section 9-1-103 is to specifically to fill the “vacancy” in the current 2007-2010 Term. Plaintiffs cite no authority authorizing an appointee to serve beyond the term in which the vacancy exists. The statutorily mandated beginning and end dates for four-year terms cannot be altered.

Moreover, Plaintiffs’ reliance on Section 23-15-849(1) as an argument to enjoin the November election is misplaced for two reasons. First, Section 23-15-849(1), by its explicit terms, applies only to elections to fill an “unexpired term,” which is not the function of the November 2 election. Second, if Code Section 23-15-849(1) were interpreted to apply to cancel regularly scheduled elections, such an interpretation would produce absurd results.

First, Plaintiffs' interpretation of Code Section 23-15-849(1) is contrary to the statute's express terms. Code Section 23-15-849 applies by its explicit terms to only one type of election: a special election to fill the unexpired and remaining portion of a judge's term if the office becomes vacant. Code Section 23-15-849 provides that

Vacancies in the office of circuit judge or chancellor **shall be filled for the unexpired term** by the qualified electors at the next regular election for state officers or for representatives in Congress occurring more than nine (9) months after the existence of the vacancy to be filled, and the term of office of the person elected to fill a vacancy shall commence on the first Monday in January following his election.

Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-849(1) (emphasis supplied). Plaintiffs grievously err by attempting to apply Section 23-15-849 to the November 2, 2010, election because they fail to recognize two critical points. First, Section 23-15-849(1) applies only if the election is to fill the "unexpired" 2007-2010 Term. Second, the November 2, 2010, election is **not** an election to fill the "unexpired" portion of the 2007-2011 Term, but is to select a circuit court judge for the new 2011-2014 Term. Thus, Code Section 23-15-849 does not apply to the November general election. Code Section 23-15-849 simply does not cancel the regularly scheduled, quadrennial election mandated by Code Section 23-15-1015 to occur at the end of the four-year term.

When does the special election provision in Code Section 23-15-849(1) apply? If a sitting judge dies or vacates his position during the first three years of his term, Section 23-15-849 governs the timing of an election to select a judge to serve the remaining "unexpired" time in that four-year term. By way of example, if a circuit court judge died in July 2008, Section 23-15-849(1) would have governed how the remaining two and a half years of his "unexpired term" would be filled, first with an interim appointment by the governor followed by a special election. The election to fill his unexpired term would have occurred in November 2009 (for it could not

have occurred in November 2008 because that was less than nine months since the vacancy). His elected replacement's term would have commenced on "the first Monday in January following his election" – January 2010 – and the replacement would serve until the end of the unexpired 2007-2010 Term on December 31, 2010. This routine and common sense application of Section 23-15-849 does not cancel a regularly scheduled quadrennial election nor does it shorten or lengthen the statutorily mandated four-year term.

Second, if Code Section 23-15-849(1) were interpreted to apply to cancel regularly scheduled elections, such an interpretation would produce absurd results.

- For example, consider what would happen if a judge died in March of 2010, a full two months before the deadline for candidates to qualify in May. If Plaintiffs are correct that Section 23-15-849 applies, the election in November 2010 could not go forward, even though the judge would have died two months **before** the deadline to qualify, because Section 23-15-849 requires that there be at least nine months between the death/vacancy and the election. There are only eight months between March and November.
- As another example, consider if the judge and two other candidates qualified for the election and the judge died in July. If Plaintiffs are correct, Section 23-15-849 would require the November 2010 election to be canceled one of the three candidates died before the election.
- Finally, consider if a judge was not seeking reelection and died in July. Under Plaintiffs' reading, the vacancy created by the judge's death would trigger Section 23-15-849(1) and cancel the November 2010 election even though the judge was not a candidate for the election.

Obviously, there is something amiss in Plaintiffs' statutory interpretation. Section 23-15-849 simply does not cancel the regularly scheduled election occurring at the end of a four-year term; Section 23-15-849 only applies to special elections occurring within the traditional four-year term in order to fill an unexpired term. More importantly, the State Defendants' interpretation of Sections 23-15-1015, 9-1-103, and 23-15-849 is, unquestionably, "a" permissible reading of the statutes and must be affirmed.

III. An Order Halting the November Election Must Comply with the Preclearance Requirements of the Federal Voting Rights Act.

Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have held that a court order halting an election or changing the manner of an election cannot be enforced unless and until such an order is precleared by the Attorney General of the United States pursuant to Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. Because the United States Attorney General is granted 60 days in which to review any preclearance submission, and there being less than fourteen days until the election, there is likely insufficient time to preclear an order which halts or changes the manner of the election.⁸

“Section 5 requires States to obtain either judicial^[9] or administrative preclearance before implementing a voting change.” *Clark v. Roemer*, 500 U.S. 646, 652-653 (1991); *see also United States v. Board of Supervisors of Warren County*, 429 U.S. 642, 645 (1977) (“No new voting practice or procedure may be enforced unless the State or political subdivision has succeeded in its declaratory judgment action or the Attorney General has declined to object”). A

⁸ When submitted to the Attorney General, the Department of Justice has 60 days to approve or reject the change. 28 C.F.R. § 51.9. There is a provision to request expedited consideration of the proposed change. *See* 28 C.F.R. § 51.34. However, the request does not guarantee a decision in less than 60 days. *Id.* A submission to the Department of Justice, or a privately initiated federal court challenge in the event that the order is precleared, would examine whether the change “has the purpose or will have the effect of denying or abridging the right to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group. The burden of proof is on a submitting authority when it submits a change to the Attorney General for preclearance. . . .” 28 C.F.R. § 51.52; *see also* 28 C.F.R. § 51.54(a) (“A change affecting voting is considered to have a discriminatory effect under Section 5 if it will lead to a retrogression in the position of members of a racial or language minority group (i.e., will make members of such a group worse off than they had been before the change) with respect to their opportunity to exercise the electoral franchise effectively.”)

⁹ Judicial preclearance is obtained by filing a declaratory judgement action before the United States District Court for the District of Columbia. 28 C.F.R. § 51.10.

voting change in a covered jurisdiction “will not be effective as la[w] until and unless cleared” pursuant to one of these two methods. *Connor v. Waller*, 421 U.S. 656, 656 (1975) (per curiam). Failure to obtain either judicial or administrative preclearance “renders the change unenforceable.” *Hathorn v. Lovorn*, 457 U.S. 255, 269 (1982).

Mississippi Code Section 23-15-1015 clearly requires that “[o]n Tuesday after the first Monday in November 1986, and every four (4) years thereafter and concurrently with the election for representatives in Congress, there **shall be held an election in every county for judges of the several circuit and chancery court districts.**” (Emphasis supplied). Similarly, and as discussed below, Code Section 23-15-365 clearly authorizes write-in votes in any election in which there is a death of a candidate; it contains no exception for a judicial election. If an order of this Court were to halt the election or otherwise interpret those statutes in a manner as to limit their broad pronouncements, it is a possibility that the United States Department of Justice and/or a private litigant would view the order as a change in voting practice and, if the order was not precleared, file suit in federal court to countermand this Court’s order. *See In re McMillin*, 642 So.2d 1336, 1339 (Miss. 1994) (order enjoining election requires preclearance before it can be enforced); *Allen v. State Bd. of Elections*, 393 U.S. 544, 570 (1969) (requiring preclearance of new procedures for casting write-in votes). As the Eleventh Circuit has held, “section 5 has been interpreted as requiring the preclearance of ‘[a]ny change affecting voting, even though it appears to be minor or indirect, [or] even though it ostensibly expands voting rights....’” *Maloney v. City of Marietta*, 822 F.2d 1023, 1026 (11th Cir. 1987) (quoting *NAACP v. Hampton County Electric Comm’n*, 470 U.S. 166, 179, 105 S.Ct. 1128, 84 L.Ed.2d 124 (1985)).

That the alleged change in voting practice occurs by virtue of a state-court order does not exempt the change from preclearance. This Court itself recognized that fact in *In re McMillin*.

Moreover, the action taken by the Hinds County Chancery Court in enjoining the judicial primaries constitutes a change in voting standards, practices and procedures also subject to § 5 preclearance or approval. *See Dougherty County Board of Education v. White*, 439 U.S. 32, 99 S.Ct. 368, 58 L.Ed.2d 269 (1978). As is the case with H.B. 1809, no such preclearance of the injunction issued by the Hinds County Chancery Court was obtained. Voting changes subject to § 5 “will not be effective as law until and unless cleared.” *Connor v. Waller*, 421 U.S. 656, 656, 95 S.Ct. 2003, 2003, 44 L.Ed.2d 486 (1975). *See also Clark v. Roemer*, 500 U.S. 646, 652, 111 S.Ct. 2096, 2101, 114 L.Ed.2d 691 (1991) (failure to obtain preclearance leaves the proposed change unenforceable).

It follows that the preliminary injunction at issue, even if within the jurisdiction of the chancery court to grant, cannot be enforced without preclearance. Likewise, H.B. 1809 cannot be enforced without preclearance. Consequently, the statutes currently governing primary judicial elections and setting such elections for Tuesday, June 7, 1994, are the only enforceable provisions regarding said primaries.

642 So.2d at 1339; *see also Branch v. Smith*, 538 U.S. 254, 262 (2003) (Section 5 “requires preclearance of all voting changes and there is no dispute that this includes voting changes mandated by order of a state court”) (citing *In re McMillin*). Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has on at least one previous occasion granted certiorari and reversed a decision of this Court when this Court mandated a change in voting practice that had not been precleared. *See Hathorn v. Lovorn*, 457 U.S. 255 (1982).

Given that several attorneys who are qualified to be elected as circuit court judges are already campaigning, and in light of the proximity to the election and the issue of preclearance, an order enjoining the election would likely result in considerable confusion, and possible additional litigation, during the final two weeks of campaigning.

IV. The Mississippi Legislature has Directed as a Matter of State Electoral Policy that Write-In Candidacies Are Appropriate in the Event of the Death of Any Qualified Candidate, Including Judicial Candidates.

The Plaintiffs argue that Judge Evans’ death must result in the cancellation of the November 2, 2010, election because he was the only candidate who qualified to run for the 2011-

2014 Term. This argument is best characterized as questioning what state election statutes require when the only qualified candidate dies between the qualification deadline and the general election. The Mississippi Constitution provides that the legislature shall establish the method by which elections for circuit court judge are conducted. *See* Miss. Const. art 6, § 153. Because the death of a qualified candidate is not an unheard of occurrence, the Mississippi Legislature, exercising its constitutionally entrusted authority to set state electoral policy, has mandated the use of write-in candidates in the event of the death, resignation, withdrawal, or removal of any candidate who has qualified for placement on an election ballot. Specifically, Code Section 23-15-365 provides:

There shall be left on each ballot one (1) blank space under the title of each office to be voted for, and in the event of the death, resignation, withdrawal or removal of any candidate whose name shall have been printed on the official ballot, the name of the candidate duly substituted in the place of such candidate may be written in such blank space by the voter.

Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-365.

That the legislature has deemed write-in candidates to be an important and appropriate component of each and every election is evidenced by the fact that Section 23-15-365 requires all ballots to be printed with a blank space for a write-in candidate for each office on the ballot, so that in the event of a candidate's death, withdrawal, resignation, or removal no further action need be taken in order for write-in votes to be cast. *See, e.g.*, Ballots R.E. 7, 8, 9. In other words, write-in candidates and write-in votes are an eventuality that the legislature mandates election officials to be prepared for in every election and for each office. The Mississippi Encyclopedia of Law reflects this well-settled use of the write-in statutes by summarizing that in "general or special elections, a blank space for write-ins must be provided for each office." *Elections*, § 29. Because county election officials must prepare for the possibility of write-in

candidates in each election, Circuit Clerk Rayner testified that the process of “prepar[ing] for a write-in election” is the “pretty much the same process” as preparing for any election. Testimony at 17, R.E. 11.

As recently as 2000 this Court affirmed that, pursuant to Code Section 23-15-365, election officials are required to permit and count votes for write-in candidates when a duly qualified candidate dies between the qualifying deadline and the election. *See Upton v. McKenzie*, 761 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2000). In *Upton*, Billy McKenzie qualified as a candidate prior to the qualifying deadline. *Id.* at 169. McKenzie died after qualifying but before the election. *Id.* McKenzie’s wife mounted a write-in candidate campaign but the county election officials refused to count the write-in votes. *Id.* Both the trial court and this Court overruled the county election officials and agreed that Billy McKenzie’s death triggered Section 23-15-365’s requirement mandating write-in candidates.¹⁰ Further, this Court confirmed that McKenzie’s wife, as the write-in candidate, had been duly substituted by the voters¹¹ and did prevail in the election. In so holding, this Court quoted with approval the opinion of the trial court that “the

¹⁰ The *Upton* court also rejected the argument that a write-in candidate is only permitted if the deceased candidate’s name was actually printed on the ballot prior to his passing. “Upton’s argument that § 23-15-365 allows write-in candidates only where a candidate dies **after the ballot has been printed** is likewise erroneous.” 761 So.2d at 176 (emphasis supplied). As long as the qualified but now deceased candidate’s name would have appeared on the ballot, Section 23-15-365 applies. As the Encyclopedia of Mississippi law recognizes, the “Mississippi Supreme Court has made it clear that the name of the deceased or removed candidate does not actually have to be printed on the ballot for the write-in vote to be valid.” *Elections*, § 29.

¹¹ This Court rejected the argument that the phrase “candidate duly substituted in the place of such candidate” means that the write-in statute applies “only where a candidate dies after receiving the party’s nomination in the primary” so that the political party may then “duly substitute” a candidate. 761 So.2d 173-75. “Upton’s assertion, that the only ‘duly substituted’ candidate is a candidate nominated by the county executive committee after the death of the only qualified candidate subsequent to the printing of the ballot but before the primary election is simply without support.” *Id.* at 175.

application of 'write-in candidate' provisions are appropriate in the event of a death of a candidate who has qualified to run for a particular office." 761 So.2d at 174.

Importantly, the *Upton* decision reiterated that Section 23-15-365 requires election officials to proceed with write-in candidates upon the "death of 'any candidate.'" 761 So.2d at 175 (emphasis in original). In light of the term "any candidate," Plaintiffs cannot credibly argue that Section 23-15-365 does not apply if the deceased candidate is a judicial candidate, is the incumbent, or is the only qualified candidate; the statute is clearly triggered upon the death of "any" candidate.¹² In fact, this Court confirmed that Section 23-15-365 applies when the only qualified candidate dies by explaining that "there is no support in any section of this State's election statutes for the assertion that a voter may cast a write-in vote **only** where the candidate who died was unopposed for a particular office." *Id.* at 175 (emphasis supplied).¹³ Thus, the write-in statute applies when the candidate who died was "unopposed for a particular office." More importantly, the State Defendants' interpretation of Section 23-15-365's phrase "any candidate" to include a judicial candidate who was unopposed is certainly "a" permissible reading of the statute and must be affirmed.

In response, Plaintiffs argue that the State Defendants' interpretation of the phrase "any candidate" to include judicial candidates is an "impermissible" interpretation of Section 23-15-

¹² "Any" is defined by Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary as "1: one or some indiscriminately of whatever kind: a: one or another taken at random <ask any man you meet> b: EVERY--used to indicate one selected without restriction <any child would know that>." MERRIAM WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 53(10th ed. 1996).

¹³ "First, there is no support in any section of this State's election statutes for the assertion that a voter may cast a write-in vote only where the candidate who died was unopposed for a particular office. In fact, both § 23-25-365 and § 23-15-333 provide for the casting of write-in votes upon the death of 'any candidate.'" *Upton*, 761 So.2d at 175 (emphasis in original).

365. Plaintiffs' arguments are less than persuasive and, if true, would gut the obviously intended broad reach of the statute. First, Plaintiffs contend that because judicial candidates have to meet certain minimum requirements in order to hold office, the write-in statute, which has no provision for the pre-qualification of candidates, cannot be applied to any judicial election. In fact, almost every, if not every, state, county, or municipal elected office has certain minimum qualifications.¹⁴ Indeed, in *Upton*, this Court affirmed the use of write-in candidates for a county board of supervisors election even though the office supervisor has the minimum qualification requirements including that the person be a resident of the district and a qualified elector (*i.e.*, over the age of eighteen). *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 19-3-3; Miss. Const. art. 6, § 250. If the write-in statute was interpreted so as to not apply to any office for which there exists minimum qualifications, the statute would be meaningless. More importantly, the legislature knew that

¹⁴ For example, the Commissioner of Agriculture must be a "qualified elector with a general knowledge of agriculture, mining, manufacturing, statistics, and general industries and an experienced and practical agriculturist." Miss. Code Ann. § 69-1-1; Miss. Const. art. 12, §250. District Attorneys must be a "qualified elector of the district and a practicing attorney admitted to practice before the Supreme Court of Mississippi for two years." Miss. Code Ann. § 25-3-1. A county attorney must be a "qualified elector and a regular licensed and practicing attorney." Miss. Code Ann. § 19-23-1. A county coroner must be a "qualified elector, at least 21 years of age, possessing a high school diploma or its equivalent, of the county in which he/she seeks election." Miss. Code Ann. §19-21-103; Miss. Const. art. 5, § 135; art. 12, §250. A county school board member must be a qualified elector of the district in which election is sought and "have a high school diploma or its equivalent." Miss. Const. art. 12, §250; Miss. Code Ann. § 37-7-306. The governor must be a "qualified elector, at least 30 years old, a citizen of the United States 20 years, and a resident of the state five years next preceding the day of election." Miss. Const. art. 5, § 117; art. 12, § 250. The lieutenant governor must meet those same requirements. *Id.* The secretary of state, auditor, treasurer, and insurance commissioner must be a "qualified elector, at least 25 years old, and a citizen of the state five years next preceding the day of election." Miss. Const. art. 5, § 133, 134, art. 12, § 250; Miss. Code Ann. §83-1-3. A state senator must be a "qualified elector of the state four years, at least 25 years old, and an actual resident of the district or territory represented for two years before the election." Miss. Const. art. 4, § 42. A state representative must be a "qualified elector and resident citizen of the state four years, at least 21 years old, and a resident of the county or district represented for two years before the election." Miss. Const. art. 4, § 41.

most, if not all, offices have minimum qualifications and yet they clearly require Section 23-15-365 to apply upon the death of “any candidate” and not just to candidates for offices with no minimum requirements. Plaintiffs cannot avoid the simple truth that “any” candidate actually means “any” candidate. What Plaintiffs fail to acknowledge is that rationale candidates who meet the qualifications will actively campaign for the office, such as the four known attorneys actively campaigning for the circuit court office. The write-in statute is not in conflict with the requirement that a person meet certain minimal qualifications before being sworn-in to serve in an elected office.

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